CAMPBELL Blocks & connections

CAMPBELL Blocks & connections

CANADIAN EDITION

Jane B. Reece Berkeley, California

Martha R.Taylor Cornell University

Eric J. Simon New England College

Jean L. Dickey Clemson University

Kevin G-E. Scott University of Manitoba



Toronto

Vice-President, Editorial Director: Gary Bennett Senior Acquisitions Editor: Lisa Rahn Marketing Managers: Kim Ukrainec and Jenna Wulff Supervising Developmental Editor: Maurice Esses Lead Project Manager: Avinash Chandra Project Manager: Sarah Gallagher Program Manager: Darryl Kamo Manufacturing Coordinator: Jane Schell Production Editor: Roxanne Klaas Copy Editor: Deborah Cooper-Bullock Proofreader: Julie Lewis Compositor: S4Carlisle Publishing Services Photo and Permissions Researcher: Terri Rothman Cover and Interior Designer: Anthony Leung Cover Image: © Breene Yuen

Credits and acknowledgments for material borrowed from other sources and reproduced, with permission, in this textbook appear on pages C1-C9.

Original edition published by Pearson Education, Inc., Upper Saddle River, New Jersey, USA. Copyright © 2012 Pearson Education, Inc. This edition is authorized for sale only in Canada

If you purchased this book outside the United States or Canada, you should be aware that it has been imported without the approval of the publisher or the author.

Copyright © 2014 Pearson Canada Inc. All rights reserved. Manufactured in the United States of America. Thi publication is protected by copyright and permission should be obtained from the publisher prior to any prohibited reproduction, storage in a retrieval system, or transmission in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording, or likewise. To obtain permission(s) to use material from this work, please submit a written request to Pearson Canada Inc., Permissions Department, 26 Prince Andrew Place, Don Mills, Ontario, M3C 2T8, or fax your request to 416-447-3126, or submit a request to Permissions Requests at www.pearsoncanada.ca.

10987654321 [CJV]

Library and Archives Canada Cataloguing in Publication

Campbell biology : concepts & connections / Jane B. Reece ... [et al.]. -- Canadian ed. Includes index.
ISBN 978-0-321-77448-4
1. Biology--Textbooks. I. Reece, Jane B. QH308.2.C343 2013
570

C2012-908453-0



About the Authors



Jane B. Reece has worked in biology publishing since 1978, when she joined the editorial staff of Benjamin Cummings. Her education includes an A.B. in biology from Harvard University (where she was initially a philosophy major), an M.S. in microbiology from Rutgers University, and a Ph.D. in bacteriology from the University of California,

Berkeley. At UC Berkeley and later as a postdoctoral fellow in genetics at Stanford University, her research focused on genetic recombination in bacteria. Dr. Reece taught biology at Middlesex County College (New Jersey) and Queensborough Community College (New York). During her 12 years as an editor at Benjamin Cummings, she played a major role in a number of successful textbooks. She is lead author of *Campbell Biology*, Ninth Edition, and coauthor of *Campbell Essential Biology*, Fourth Edition, and *Campbell Essential Biology with Physiology*, Third Edition



Martha R. Taylor has been teaching biology for more than 35 years. She earned her B.A. in biology from Gettysburg College and her M.S. and Ph.D. in science education from Cornell University. She was assistant director of the Office of Instructiona Support at Cornell for 7 years. Dr. Taylor has taught introductory biology for both majors and nonma-

jors at Cornell University and is currently a lecturer in the Learning Strategies Center teaching supplemental biology courses. Her experience working with students in classrooms, in laboratories, and with tutorials has increased her commitment to helping students create their own knowledge of and appreciation for biology. She has been the author of the *Student Study Guide* for all nine editions of *Campbell Biology*.



Eric J. Simon is an associate professor in the Department of Biology and Health Science at New England College, in Henniker, New Hampshire. He teaches introductory biology to science majors and nonscience majors, as well as upper-level courses in genetics, microbiology, tropical marine biology, and molecular biology. Dr. Simon received a B.A. in biology and computer

science and an M.A. in biology from Wesleyan University and a Ph.D. in biochemistry from Harvard University. His research focuses on innovative ways to use technology to improve teaching and learning in the science classroom, particularly for nonscience majors. Dr. Simon is the lead author of *Campbell* *Essential Biology*, Fourth Edition, and *Campbell Essential Biology with Physiology*, Third Edition



Jean L. Dickey is a professor of biology at Clemson University. She had no idea that science was interesting until her senior year in high school, when a scheduling problem landed her in an advanced biology course. Abandoning plans to study English or foreign languages, she enrolled in Kent State University as a biology major. After receiving her

B.S. in biology, she went on to earn a Ph.D. in ecology and evolution from Purdue University. Since joining the faculty at Clemson in 1984, Dr. Dickey has specialized in teaching nonscience majors, including a course designed for preservice elementary teachers and workshops for in-service teachers. She also developed an investigative laboratory curriculum for general biology. Dr. Dickey is author of *Laboratory Investigations for Biology*, Second Edition, and coauthor of *Campbell Essential Biology*, Fourth Edition, and *Campbell Essential Biology with Physiology*, Third Edition



Neil A. Campbell (1946–2004) combined the inquiring nature of a research scientist with the soul of a caring teacher. Over his 30 years of teaching introductory biology to both science majors and nonscience majors, many thousands of students had the opportunity to learn from him and be stimulated by his enthusiasm for the study of life. While he is greatly

missed by his many friends in the biology community, his coauthors remain inspired by his visionary dedication to education and are committed to searching for ever better ways to engage students in the wonders of biology.



Kevin G-E. Scott is a senior instructor at the University of Manitoba where he teaches introductory biology for science majors and nonscience majors; ecology for nonbiology majors; and upper-level animal physiology laboratories. In the past, he has also taught courses in immunology, parasitology, human anatomy and physiology, and microbiology. Dr. Scott received a B.Sc.

in zoology and a Ph.D. in zoology and cellular, molecular, and microbial biology at the University of Calgary. As an instructor, Dr. Scott has centred his career on teaching and the classroom, where he shares his excitement for biology. This is the first ti Dr. Scott has authored a biology textbook.

Brief Contents

1 Exploring Biology 1

UNIT I

The Living Cell 19

- 2 The Essential Chemistry of Lif 20
- **3** The Compounds of Cell 38
- 4 Cellular Structure 58
- **5** Cellular Function 82
- 6 How Cells Harvest Chemical Energy 100
- 7 Photosynthesis 119

UNIT II

Cellular Reproduction and Genetics 137

- 8 The Cellular Basis of Reproduction and Inheritanc 138
- 9 Patterns of Inheritance 168
- **10** Molecular Genetics 199
- **11** Gene Expression 224
- 12 DNA Technology and Genomics 246

UNIT III

Concepts of Evolution 269

- **13** Evolution: In the Beginning 270
- 14 Mechanisms of Evolution 289
- 15 Speciation and Phylogeny 311

UNIT IV

The Evolution of Biodiversity 337

- 16 Viruses and Other Acellular "Life" 338
- 17 Bacteria and Other Prokaryotes 359
- 18 Biodiversity of Protists and Fungi 376
- **19** Biodiversity of Plants 396
- **20** Biodiversity of Invertebrate Animals 415
- **21** Biodiversity of Vertebrate Animals 440

UNIT V

Plants: Structure and Function 465

22 Plant Structure, Growth, and Reproduction 466

- 23 Nutrition in Plants 489
- 24 Control Systems in Plants 506

UNIT VI

Structure and Function of Animals 525

- **25** Unifying Concepts of Animal Structure and Function 526
- 26 Nutrition in Animals 546
- 27 Gas Exchange 569
- 28 Circulation and Waste Removal 585
- 29 Hormones and Endocrine Systems 611
- **30** Animal Reproduction and Development 630
- 31 Neurons and Nervous Systems 660
- 32 Sensation 685
- 33 Animal Locomotion 704
- 34 Animal Immune Systems 722

UNIT VII

Ecology 743

- **35** The Biosphere: An Introduction to Earth's Diverse Environments 744
- 36 Behavioural Ecology 767
- 37 Population Ecology 789
- **38** Community Ecology 806
- **39** Symbioses 825
- 40 Ecosystem Ecology 845
- 41 Conservation and Sustainability 858
- Appendix A: The Periodic Table A-1
- Appendix B: The Amino Acids of Proteins A-2
- Appendix C: Some Organic Functional Groups and Their Properties A-3
- Appendix D: The Language of Biology A-5
- Appendix E: Answers to Chapter Review Questions A-16

Glossary G-1

Credits C-1

Index I-1

Table of Contents

1 Exploring Biology 1

Themes in the Study of Biology 3

- **1.1** All forms of life share common properties 3
- **1.2** In life's hierarchy of organization, new properties emerge at each level 4
- **1.3** Cells are the structural and functional units of life 5
- **1.4** Organisms interact with their environment, exchanging matter and energy 6

Evolution, the Core Theme of Biology 7

- 1.5 The unity of life is based on DNA and a common genetic code 7
- **1.6** The diversity of life can be arranged into three domains 7
- **1.7** Evolution explains the unity and diversity of life 9

The Scientific Method 10

- **1.8** Scientific inquiry is used to ask and answer questions about nature 10
- **1.9** Scientists form and test hypotheses and share their results 11

Biology and Everyday Life 14

- **1.10 BIOLOGY AND SOCIETY** Biology, technology, and society are connected in important ways 14
- **1.11 EVOLUTION CONNECTION** Evolution is connected to our everyday lives 14
- **1.12 RUMOUR HAS IT** Do malicious rumours spread like diseases? 15

Chapter Review 16



2 The Essential Chemistry of Life 20

Elements, Atoms, and Compounds 22

- 2.1 Organisms are composed of elements, in combinations called compounds 22
- **2.2 EVERYDAY BIOLOGY** Trace elements are common additives to food and water 23
- 2.3 Atoms consist of protons, neutrons, and electrons 24
- 2.4 EVERYDAY BIOLOGY Radioisotopes can help or harm us 25

Chemical Bonds 26

2.5 The distribution of electrons determines an atom's chemical properties 26

- **2.6** Covalent bonds join atoms into molecules through electron sharing 26
- 2.7 Ionic bonds are attractions between ions of opposite charge 28
- **2.8** Hydrogen bonds are weak bonds important in the chemistry of life 28
- 2.9 Chemical reactions make and break chemical bonds 29
- **2.10 RUMOUR HAS IT** Is there a chemical indicator in swimming pools that detects urine? 30

Water's Life-Supporting Properties 31

- 2.11 Hydrogen bonds make liquid water cohesive 31
- 2.12 Water's hydrogen bonds moderate temperature 31
- **2.13** Ice is less dense than liquid water 32
- 2.14 Water is the solvent of life 32
- **2.15** The chemistry of life is sensitive to acidic and basic conditions 33
- **2.16 EVERYDAY BIOLOGY** Acid precipitation and ocean acidification threaten the environmen 34
- **2.17 EVOLUTION CONNECTION** The search for extraterrestrial life centres on the search for water 34

Chapter Review 35

3 The Compounds of Cells 38

Introduction to Organic Compounds 40

- **3.1** Life's molecular diversity is based on the properties of carbon 40
- **3.2** A few chemical groups are key to the functioning of biological molecules 41
- **3.3** Cells make a huge number of large molecules from a limited set of small molecules 42

Carbohydrates 43

- 3.4 Monosaccharides are the simplest carbohydrates 43
- **3.5** Two monosaccharides are linked to form a disaccharide 44
- **3.6 RUMOUR HAS IT** Is high-fructose corn syrup to blame for obesity? 44
- 3.7 Polysaccharides are long chains of sugar units 45

Proteins 46

- **3.8** Proteins are made from amino acids linked by peptide bonds 46
- **3.9** A protein's specific shape determines its functio 47
- 3.10 A protein's shape depends on four levels of structure 48

Nucleic Acids 50

- 3.11 DNA and RNA are the two types of nucleic acids 50
- **3.12** Nucleic acids are polymers of nucleotides 51
- **3.13 EVOLUTION CONNECTION** Lactose tolerance is a recent event in human evolution 52

Lipids 53

- **3.14** Fats are lipids that are mostly energy-storage molecules 53
- **3.15** Phospholipids and steroids are important lipids with a variety of functions 53
- **3.16 EVERYDAY BIOLOGY** Cholesterol must be specially packaged for transport in the blood 54

Chapter Review 55

4 Cellular Structure 58

Introduction to the Cell 60

- 4.1 Microscopes reveal the world of the cell 60
- **4.2** The small size of cells relates to the need to exchange materials across the plasma membrane 62
- **4.3** Prokaryotic cells are structurally simpler than eukaryotic cells 63
- **4.4** Eukaryotic cells are partitioned into functional compartments 64

The Nucleus and Ribosomes 66

- 4.5 The nucleus is the cell's genetic control centr 66
- **4.6** Ribosomes make proteins for use in the cell and for export 67

The Endomembrane System 68

- **4.7** Overview: Many cell organelles are connected through the endomembrane system 68
- **4.8** The endoplasmic reticulum is a biosynthetic factor 69
- **4.9** The Golgi apparatus finishes, sorts, and ships cel products 70
- 4.10 Lysosomes are digestive compartments within a cell 71
- **4.11** Vacuoles function in the general maintenance of the cell 71
- **4.12** A review of the structures involved in manufacturing and breakdown 72

Energy-Converting Organelles 72

- **4.13** Mitochondria harvest chemical energy from food 72
- 4.14 Chloroplasts convert solar energy to chemical energy 73
- **4.15 EVOLUTION CONNECTION** Mitochondria and chloroplasts evolved by endosymbiosis 73

The Cytoskeleton and Cell Surfaces 74

- **4.16 RUMOUR HAS IT** Are the organelles of a cell free-floating in a cytoplasm soup? 74
- **4.17** Cilia and flagella move when microtubules ben 75
- **4.18 EVERYDAY BIOLOGY** Problems with sperm motility may be environmental or genetic 76
- **4.19** The extracellular matrix of animal cells functions in support and regulation 77
- **4.20** Three types of cell junctions are found in animal tissues 78
- 4.21 Cell walls enclose and support plant cells 78
- **4.22** Review: Eukaryotic cell structures can be grouped on the basis of four main functions 79

Chapter Review 80

5 Cellular Function 82

Membrane Structure and Function 84

- **5.1** Membranes are fluid mosaics of lipids and proteins with many functions 84
- **5.2 EVOLUTION CONNECTION** Membranes form spontaneously, a critical step in the origin of life 85
- **5.3** Passive transport is diffusion across a membrane with no energy investment 85
- 5.4 Osmosis is the diffusion of water across a membran 86
- **5.5** Water balance between cells and their surroundings is crucial to organisms 86
- **5.6** Transport proteins can facilitate diffusion across membranes 87
- 5.7 Cells expend energy in the active transport of a solute 88
- **5.8** Exocytosis and endocytosis transport large molecules across membranes 88

Energy and the Cell 90

- **5.9** Cells transform energy as they perform work 90
- **5.10** Chemical reactions either release or store energy 91
- **5.11** ATP drives cellular work by coupling exergonic and endergonic reactions 92

How Enzymes Function 93

- **5.12** Enzymes speed up the cell's chemical reactions by lowering energy barriers 93
- 5.13 A specific enzyme catalyzes each cellular reactio 94
- 5.14 Enzyme inhibitors can regulate enzyme activity in a cell 95
- **5.15 RUMOUR HAS IT** Does eating raw vegetables provide valuable enzymes for digestion? 96
- **5.16 EVERYDAY BIOLOGY** Many drugs, pesticides, and poisons are enzyme inhibitors 97

Chapter Review 97

6 How Cells Harvest Chemical Energy 100

Cellular Respiration: Aerobic Harvesting of Energy 102

- **6.1** Photosynthesis and cellular respiration provide energy for life 102
- **6.2** Breathing supplies O_2 for use in cellular respiration and removes CO_2 102
- 6.3 Cellular respiration banks energy in ATP molecules 103
- **6.4 EVERYDAY BIOLOGY** The human body uses energy from ATP for all its activities 103
- **6.5** Cells tap energy from electrons "falling" from organic fuels to oxygen 104

Stages of Cellular Respiration 105

- **6.6** Overview: Cellular respiration occurs in three main stages 105
- **6.7** Glycolysis harvests chemical energy by oxidizing glucose to pyruvate 106
- 6.8 Pyruvate is oxidized prior to the citric acid cycle 108

- **6.9** The citric acid cycle completes the oxidation of organic molecules, generating many NADH and FADH₂ molecules 108
- **6.10** Most ATP production occurs by oxidative phosphorylation 110
- **6.11 EVERYDAY BIOLOGY** Interrupting cellular respiration can have both harmful and beneficial effec 111
- **6.12** Review: Each molecule of glucose yields many molecules of ATP 112

Fermentation: Anaerobic Harvesting of Energy 112

- **6.13** Fermentation enables cells to produce ATP without oxygen 112
- **6.14 RUMOUR HAS IT** Do African elephants get drunk from fermented marula fruit and wreak havoc? 114

Connections Between Metabolic Pathways 115

- **6.15 EVOLUTION CONNECTION** Glycolysis evolved early in the history of life on Earth 115
- **6.16** Cells use many kinds of organic molecules as fuel for cellular respiration 115
- **6.17** Food molecules provide raw materials for biosynthesis 116

Chapter Review 117

7 Photosynthesis 119

An Overview of Photosynthesis 121

- 7.1 Autotrophs are the producers of the biosphere 121
- 7.2 Photosynthesis occurs in chloroplasts in plant cells 122
- 7.3 Scientists traced the process of photosynthesis by using isotopes 123
- **7.4** Photosynthesis is a redox process, as is cellular respiration 123
- **7.5** Overview: The two stages of photosynthesis are linked by ATP and NADPH 124

The Light-Dependent Reactions: Converting Solar Energy to Chemical Energy 125

- **7.6 RUMOUR HAS IT** Do plants absorb all light during photosynthesis? 125
- 7.7 Photosystems capture solar energy 126
- **7.8** Two photosystems connected by an electron transport chain generate ATP and NADPH 127
- **7.9** Chemiosmosis powers ATP synthesis in the lightdependent reactions 128

The Calvin Cycle: Reducing CO₂ to Sugar 129

- **7.10** ATP and NADPH power sugar synthesis in the Calvin cycle 129
- **7.11 EVOLUTION CONNECTION** Other methods of carbon fixation have evolved in hot, dry climates 130

Photosynthesis Reviewed and Extended 131

7.12 Review: Photosynthesis uses light energy, carbon dioxide, and water to make organic molecules 131

- **7.13 EVERYDAY BIOLOGY** Photosynthesis may moderate global climate change 132
- **7.14** Scientific study of Earth's ozone layer has global significanc 133

Chapter Review 134

Cellular Reproduction and Genetics

8 The Cellular Basis of Reproduction and Inheritance 138

Cell Division and Reproduction 140

- **8.1** Cell division plays many important roles in the lives of organisms 140
- **8.2** Prokaryotes reproduce by binary fissio 141

The Eukaryotic Cell Cycle and Mitosis 142

- **8.3** The large, complex chromosomes of eukaryotes duplicate with each cell division 142
- **8.4** The cell cycle multiplies cell 143
- **8.5** Cell division is a continuum of dynamic changes 144
- **8.6** Cytokinesis differs for plant and animal cell 146
- 8.7 Anchorage, cell density, and chemical growth factors affect cell divisio 147
- **8.8** Growth factors signal the cell cycle control system 148
- **8.9 EVERYDAY BIOLOGY** Growing out of control, cancer cells produce malignant tumours 149
- **8.10 RUMOUR HAS IT** Are sharks immune to cancer? 150
- **8.11** Review: Mitosis provides for growth, cell replacement, and asexual reproduction 151

Meiosis and Crossing Over 152

- 8.12 Chromosomes are matched in homologous pairs 152
- **8.13** Gametes have a single set of chromosomes 152
- **8.14** Meiosis reduces the chromosome number from diploid to haploid 153
- **8.15** Mitosis and meiosis have important similarities and difference 156
- **8.16** Independent orientation of chromosomes in meiosis and random fertilization lead to varied offsprin 157
- **8.17** Homologous chromosomes may carry different versions of genes 158
- 8.18 Crossing over further increases genetic variability 158

Alterations of Chromosome Number and Structure 160

- **8.19** A karyotype is a photographic inventory of an individual's chromosomes 160
- 8.20 EVERYDAY BIOLOGY An extra copy of chromosome 21 causes Down syndrome 161
- **8.21** Accidents during meiosis can alter chromosome number 162

- **8.22 EVERYDAY BIOLOGY** Abnormal numbers of sex chromosomes do not usually affect surviva 162
- **8.23 EVOLUTION CONNECTION** New species can arise from errors in cell division 163
- **8.24** Alterations of chromosome structure can cause birth defects and cancer 164

Chapter Review 165

9 Patterns of Inheritance 168

Mendel's Laws 170

- 9.1 Experimental genetics began in an abbey garden 170
- **9.2** Mendel's law of segregation describes the inheritance of a single character 171
- **9.3** Homologous chromosomes bear the alleles for each character 173
- **9.4** The law of independent assortment is revealed by tracking two characters at once 173
- **9.5** Geneticists can use the testcross to determine unknown genotypes 175
- 9.6 Mendel's laws reflect the rules of probabilit 176
- **9.7 EVERYDAY BIOLOGY** Genetic traits in humans can be tracked through family pedigrees 177
- **9.8** EVERYDAY BIOLOGY Many inherited disorders in humans are controlled by a single gene 178
- **9.9 BIOLOGY AND SOCIETY** New technologies can provide insight into one's genetic legacy 180

Variations on Mendel's Laws 182

- 9.10 Dominance is not always complete 182
- **9.11** Many genes have more than two alleles in the population 183
- **9.12** A single gene may affect many phenotypic characters 184
- **9.13** A single character may be influenced by many genes 184
- **9.14 EVOLUTION CONNECTION** Human pigmentation has repeatedly changed as our ancestors migrated 186
- 9.15 The environment affects many characte 187

The Chromosomal Basis of Inheritance 188

- 9.16 Chromosome behaviour accounts for Mendel's laws 188
- **9.17** Genes on the same chromosome tend to be inherited together 189
- 9.18 Crossing over produces new combinations of alleles 190
- 9.19 Geneticists use crossover data to map genes 192

Sex Chromosomes and Sex-Linked Genes 192

- 9.20 Chromosomes determine sex in many species 192
- **9.21 RUMOUR HAS IT** Are human males on the verge of extinction? 194
- **9.22** Sex-linked genes exhibit a unique pattern of inheritance 194
- **9.23** EVERYDAY BIOLOGY Human sex-linked disorders affect mostly males 195

Chapter Review 196

10 Molecular Genetics 199

The Structure of the Genetic Material 201

- **10.1** Experiments showed that DNA is the genetic material 201
- **10.2** DNA and RNA are polymers of nucleotides 202
- **10.3** DNA is a double-stranded helix 204

DNA Replication 206

- **10.4** DNA replication depends on specific base pairin 206
- **10.5** DNA replication proceeds in two directions at many sites simultaneously 207

The Flow of Genetic Information from DNA to RNA to Protein 208

- **10.6** The DNA genotype is expressed as proteins, which provide the molecular basis for phenotypic traits 208
- **10.7** Genetic information written in codons is translated into amino acid sequences 209
- **10.8** The genetic code dictates how codons are translated into amino acids 210
- **10.9** Transcription produces genetic messages in the form of RNA 212
- **10.10** Eukaryotic RNA is processed before leaving the nucleus as mRNA 213
- **10.11** Transfer RNA molecules serve as interpreters during translation 213
- 10.12 Ribosomes build polypeptides 215
- **10.13** An initiation codon marks the start of an mRNA message 215
- **10.14** Elongation adds amino acids to the polypeptide chain until a stop codon terminates translation 216
- 10.15 Review: The flow of genetic information in the cell i DNA → RNA → protein 217
- 10.16 Mutations can change the meaning of genes 218
- **10.17 EVERYDAY BIOLOGY** Suntanning damages DNA leading to mutations 219
- **10.18 RUMOUR HAS IT** Are all mutations detrimental to organisms? 220
- **10.19 EVOLUTION CONNECTION** Mutations are at the centre of the evolution of antibiotic resistance in bacteria 221

Chapter Review 222

11 Gene Expression 224

Control of Gene Expression 226

- **11.1** Proteins interacting with DNA turn prokaryotic genes on or off in response to environmental change 226
- **11.2** Chromosome structure and chemical modifications can affect gene expressio 228
- **11.3 RUMOUR HAS IT** Are identical twins really identical? 230
- **11.4** Complex assemblies of proteins control eukaryotic transcription 230

- **11.5** Eukaryotic RNA may be spliced in more than one way 231
- **11.6** Small RNAs play multiple roles in controlling gene expression 232
- **11.7** Later stages of gene expression are also subject to regulation 232
- **11.8** Review: Multiple mechanisms regulate gene expression in eukaryotes 233
- **11.9** Cell signalling and cascades of gene expression direct animal development 235
- **11.10** Signal transduction pathways convert messages received at the cell surface to responses within the cell 236
- **11.11 EVOLUTION CONNECTION** Cell-signalling systems appeared early in the evolution of life 236

Cloning of Plants and Animals 237

- **11.12** Plant cloning shows that differentiated cells may retain all of their genetic potential 237
- **11.13** Nuclear transplantation can be used to clone animals 238
- **11.14 EVERYDAY BIOLOGY** Therapeutic cloning can produce stem cells with great medical potential 238

The Genetic Basis of Cancer 239

- **11.15** Cancer results from mutations in genes that control cell division 239
- **11.16** Multiple genetic changes underlie the development of cancer 240
- **11.17** Faulty proteins can interfere with normal signal transduction pathways 241
- **11.18 EVERYDAY BIOLOGY** Lifestyle choices can reduce the risk of cancer 242

Chapter Review 243

12 DNA Technology and Genomics 246

Gene Cloning 248

- 12.1 Genes can be cloned in recombinant plasmids 248
- 12.2 Enzymes are used to "cut and paste" DNA 250
- **12.3** Cloned genes can be stored in genomic libraries 251
- **12.4** Reverse transcriptase can help to make genes for cloning 251
- **12.5** Nucleic acid probes identify clones carrying specific genes 252

Genetically Modified Organisms 252

- **12.6** Recombinant cells and organisms can mass-produce gene products 252
- **12.7 EVERYDAY BIOLOGY** DNA technology has changed the pharmaceutical industry and medicine 254
- **12.8 EVERYDAY BIOLOGY** Genetically modified organisms are transforming agriculture 255
- **12.9 BIOLOGY AND SOCIETY** Genetically modified organisms raise concerns about human and environmental health 256
- **12.10 EVERYDAY BIOLOGY** Gene therapy may someday help to treat a variety of diseases 257

DNA Profiling 258

- **12.11** The analysis of genetic markers can produce a DNA profil 258
- **12.12** The PCR method is used to amplify DNA sequence 259
- 12.13 Gel electrophoresis sorts DNA molecules by size 259
- **12.14** STR analysis is commonly used for DNA profilin 260
- **12.15** DNA profiling has provided evidence in many forensic investigations 261
- **12.16** RFLPs can be used to detect differences in DNA sequences 262

Genomics 263

- **12.17** Genomics is the scientific study of whole genome 263
- **12.18 RUMOUR HAS IT** Is 98% of human DNA actually unused junk? 264
- **12.19** The whole-genome shotgun method of sequencing a genome can provide a wealth of data quickly 265
- **12.20** Proteomics is the scientific study of the full set of proteins encoded by a genome 265
- **12.21** EVOLUTION CONNECTION Genomes hold clues to human evolution 266

Chapter Review 266



13 Evolution: In the Beginning 270

Darwin's Theory of Evolution 272

- **13.1** A sea voyage helped Darwin frame his theory of evolution 272
- **13.2** Darwin proposed natural selection as the mechanism of evolution 274
- **13.3 EVERYDAY BIOLOGY** Scientists can observe natural selection in action 275
- **13.4** The study of fossils provides strong evidence for evolution 276
- **13.5** Many types of scientific evidence support the evolutionary view of life 278
- **13.6 EVOLUTION CONNECTION** Homologies indicate patterns of descent that can be shown on an evolutionary tree 279
- **13.7 RUMOUR HAS IT** Does the theory of evolution explain the origins of life? 280

Early Earth and the Origin of Life 280

- 13.8 Conditions on early Earth made the origin of life possible 280
- **13.9** Experiments show that the abiotic synthesis of organic molecules is possible 281
- **13.10** Stages in the origin of the first cells probably included the formation of polymers, protocells, and self-replicating RNA 282

Major Events in the History of Life 283

- **13.11** The origins of single-celled and multicellular organisms and the colonization of land were key events in life's history 283
- 13.12 The actual ages of rocks and fossils mark geologic time 285
- **13.13** The fossil record documents the history of lif 285

Chapter Review 287

14 Mechanisms of Evolution 289

The Evolution of Populations 291

- 14.1 RUMOUR HAS IT Do individuals evolve? 291
- **14.2** Mutation and sexual reproduction produce the genetic variation that makes evolution possible 291
- **14.3** The Hardy-Weinberg equation can test whether a population is evolving 293
- **14.4 EVERYDAY BIOLOGY** The Hardy-Weinberg equation is useful in public health science 294

Mechanisms of Microevolution 295

- 14.5 Natural selection, genetic drift, and gene flow can caus microevolution 295
- **14.6** Natural selection is the only mechanism that consistently leads to adaptive evolution 296
- 14.7 Natural selection can alter variation in a population in three ways 297
- **14.8** Sexual selection may lead to phenotypic differences between males and females 298
- **14.9** Diploidy and balancing selection preserve genetic variation 299
- 14.10 Natural selection cannot fashion perfect organisms 300

Mechanisms of Macroevolution 301

- **14.11** Continental drift has played a major role in macroevolution 301
- **14.12** During mass extinctions, large numbers of species are lost 303
- 14.13 Adaptive radiations have increased the diversity of life 304
- 14.14 Genes that control development play a major role in evolution 305
- 14.15 Evolutionary novelties may arise in several ways 306
- **14.16 EVOLUTION CONNECTION** Evolutionary trends do not mean that evolution is goal directed 307

Chapter Review 308

15 Speciation and Phylogeny 311

Defining Species 313

- 15.1 The origin of species is the source of biological diversity 313
- **15.2** There are several ways to define a speci 314
- **15.3** Reproductive barriers keep species separate 315

Mechanisms of Speciation 317

- **15.4** In allopatric speciation, geographic isolation leads to speciation 317
- 15.5 Reproductive barriers can evolve as populations diverge 318
- **15.6** Sympatric speciation takes place without geographic isolation 319
- **15.7 EVOLUTION CONNECTION** Most plant species trace their origin to polyploid speciation 321
- **15.8** Isolated islands are often showcases of speciatio 322
- **15.9** A long-term field study documents evolution in Darwin's finche 323
- **15.10** Hybrid zones provide opportunities to study reproductive isolation 324
- **15.11** Speciation can occur rapidly or slowly 325

Phylogeny and the Tree of Life 326

- **15.12** Phylogenies based on homologies reflect evolutionary history 326
- **15.13** Systematics connects classification with evolutionary history 326
- **15.14** Shared characters are used to construct phylogenetic trees 328
- **15.15 RUMOUR HAS IT** Did humans evolve from chimpanzees? 330
- **15.16** An organism's evolutionary history is documented in its genome 331
- **15.17** Molecular clocks help to track evolutionary time 332
- **15.18 EVERYDAY BIOLOGY** Constructing the tree of life is a work in progress 333

Chapter Review 334



16 Viruses and Other Acellular "Life" 338

Viral Structure and Replication 340

- **16.1** A virus consists of nucleic acid and proteins 340
- **16.2** Viruses require host cells for replication 341
- **16.3** The viral replicative cycl 342
- **16.4** Viral entry is a crucial first ste 343
- **16.5** DNA viruses and RNA viruses have distinct mechanisms of nucleic acid replication 344
- **16.6** Viral transmission requires the release from the host cell 346

Viral Infections 348

16.7 Some bacteriophages have two types of replicative cycles 348

- **16.8** Plant viruses can have a serious impact on agriculture 349
- **16.9** Some animal viruses cause serious disease 350
- **16.10 EVERYDAY BIOLOGY** Emerging viruses threaten human health 351
- **16.11 RUMOUR HAS IT** Can you catch a cold from going outside in the cold? 352
- 16.12 EVOLUTION CONNECTION How did viruses originate? 354

Other Infectious Acellular Particles 354

- 16.13 Viroids are infectious RNA molecules 354
- **16.14** Prions are infectious protein molecules 355

Chapter Review 356

17 Bacteria and Other Prokaryotes 359

Prokaryote Diversity 361

- **17.1** Prokaryotes are diverse and widespread 361
- **17.2** Prokaryotes have unparalleled nutritional diversity 361
- 17.3 Archaea and bacteria are the two main branches of prokaryotic evolution 362
- 17.4 Archaea thrive in extreme environments—and in other habitats 363
- **17.5** External features contribute to the success of bacteria 364
- **17.6** Bacteria include a diverse assemblage of prokaryotes 365

Bacterial Genetics 367

- **17.7** Bacteria can transfer DNA in three ways 367
- 17.8 Bacterial plasmids can serve as carriers for gene transfer 368

Bacteria 369

- **17.9** Populations of bacteria can adapt rapidly to changes in the environment 369
- **17.10 RUMOUR HAS IT** Are antibacterial hand soaps creating strains of superbugs? 370
- **17.11** Biofilms are complex associations of bacteri 371
- **17.12 EVERYDAY BIOLOGY** Bacteria can help to clean up the environment 371
- 17.13 EVERYDAY BIOLOGY Some bacteria cause disease 372
- **17.14** Koch's postulates are used to prove that a bacterium causes a disease 373
- **17.15 BIOLOGY AND SOCIETY** Bacteria can be used as biological weapons 373

Chapter Review 374

18 Biodiversity of Protists and Fungi 376

Diversity of Protists 378

18.1 Protists are an extremely diverse assortment of eukaryotes 378

- **18.2 EVOLUTION CONNECTION** Secondary endosymbiosis is the key to much of protist diversity 379
- **18.3** Chromalveolates represent the range of protist diversity 380
- **18.4 RUMOUR HAS IT** Can algae provide a renewable source of energy? 381
- **18.5** Rhizarians include a variety of amoebas 382
- 18.6 Some excavates have modified mitochondri 383
- 18.7 Unikonts include protists that are closely related to fungi and animals 383
- 18.8 Archaeplastids include red algae, green algae, and land plants 384
- **18.9 EVOLUTION CONNECTION** Multicellularity evolved several times in eukaryotes 385

Diversity of Fungi 386

- 18.10 Fungi absorb food after digesting it outside their bodies 386
- 18.11 Fungi produce spores in both asexual and sexual life cycles 387
- **18.12** Fungi are classified into five grou 388
- 18.13 Fungal groups differ in their life cycles and reproductive structures 389
- **18.14 EVERYDAY BIOLOGY** Fungi have enormous ecological benefit 391
- **18.15 EVERYDAY BIOLOGY** Fungi have many practical uses 392
- **18.16** Lichens are symbiotic associations of fungi and photosynthetic organisms 393

Chapter Review 394

19 Biodiversity of Plants 396

Plant Evolution 398

- **19.1** Plants have adaptations for life on land 398
- **19.2** Haploid and diploid generations alternate in plant life cycles 400
- **19.3** Plant diversity reflects the evolutionary history of the plant kingdom 400

Plant Diversity 403

- **19.4** The life cycle of a moss is dominated by the gametophyte 403
- **19.5 RUMOUR HAS IT** Does moss grow only on the north side of trees? 403
- **19.6** Ferns, like most plants, have a life cycle dominated by the sporophyte 404
- 19.7 Seedless vascular plants dominated vast "coal forests" 405
- **19.8** A pine tree is a sporophyte with gametophytes in its cones 406

The Flowering Plants 408

- **19.9** The flower is the centrepiece of angiosper reproduction 408
- **19.10** The angiosperm plant is a sporophyte with gametophytes in its flower 408

- **19.11** The structure of a fruit reflects its function in see dispersal 410
- **19.12 EVERYDAY BIOLOGY** Angiosperms sustain us—and add spice to our diets 410
- **19.13 EVOLUTION CONNECTION** Pollination by animals has influenced angiosperm evolutio 411
- **19.14 BIOLOGY AND SOCIETY** Plant diversity is vital to the future of the world's food supply 412

Chapter Review 413

20 Biodiversity of Invertebrate Animals 415

Animal Evolution and Diversity 417

- **20.1** What is an animal? 417
- **20.2** Animal diversification began more than half a billion years ago 418
- **20.3** Animals can be characterized by basic features of their "body plan" 419
- **20.4** The body plans of animals can be used to build phylogenetic trees 420

Invertebrate Diversity 421

- 20.5 Sponges have a relatively simple, porous body 421
- **20.6** Cnidarians are radial animals with tentacles and stinging cells 422
- 20.7 Flatworms are the simplest bilateral animals 423
- **20.8** Nematodes have a pseudocoelom and a complete digestive tract 424
- **20.9** Diverse molluscs are variations on a common body plan 425
- 20.10 Annelids are segmented worms 427
- **20.11** Arthropods are segmented animals with jointed appendages and an exoskeleton 429
- **20.12 EVOLUTION CONNECTION** Insects are the most successful group of animals 431
- **20.13 RUMOUR HAS IT** Can you determine the temperature from cricket chirps? 433
- **20.14** Echinoderms have spiny skin, an endoskeleton, and a water vascular system for movement 434
- **20.15** Our own phylum, Chordata, is distinguished by four features 435

Animal Phylogeny and Diversity Revisited 436

- **20.16** An animal phylogenetic tree is a work in progress 436
- **20.17 EVOLUTION CONNECTION** The genes that build animal bodies are ancient 436

Chapter Review 438

21 Biodiversity of Vertebrate Animals 440

Vertebrate Evolution and Diversity 442

21.1 Derived characters define the major clades of chordates 442

- 21.2 Hagfishes and lampreys lack hinged jaw 443
- **21.3** Jawed vertebrates with gills and paired fins include sharks, ray-finned fishes, and lobe-finned fi 444
- **21.4 EVOLUTION CONNECTION** New fossil discoveries are filling in the gaps of tetrapod evolution 446
- **21.5** Amphibians are tetrapods—vertebrates with two pairs of limbs 448
- **21.6** Reptiles are amniotes—tetrapods with a terrestrially adapted egg 449
- **21.7 RUMOUR HAS IT** Do chameleons change colour for camouflage 450
- **21.8** Birds are feathered reptiles with adaptations for fligh 450
- **21.9** Mammals are amniotes that have hair and produce milk 452

Primate Diversity 453

- 21.10 The human story begins with our primate heritag 453
- **21.11** Humans and four other groups of apes are classified as anthropoids 455

Hominin Evolution 456

- **21.12** The hominin branch of the primate tree includes species that coexisted 456
- 21.13 Australopiths were bipedal and had small brains 457
- **21.14** Larger brains mark the evolution of *Homo* 458
- **21.15** From origins in Africa, *Homo sapiens* spread around the world 459
- 21.16 Who were the "hobbits"? 460
- **21.17** Our knowledge of animal diversity is far from complete 461

Chapter Review 462



22 Plant Structure, Growth, and Reproduction 466

Plant Structure and Function 468

- **22.1 BIOLOGY AND SOCIETY** People have manipulated plants since prehistoric times 468
- **22.2** The two major groups of angiosperms are the monocots and the eudicots 469
- **22.3** A typical plant body contains three basic organs: roots, stems, and leaves 470
- 22.4 Many plants have modified roots, stems, and leave 471
- **22.5** Three tissue systems make up the plant bod 472
- **22.6** Plant cells are diverse in structure and function 474

Plant Growth 476

22.7 Primary growth lengthens roots and shoots 476

- **22.8** Secondary growth increases the diameter of woody plants 478
- **22.9 RUMOUR HAS IT** Is there a palm tree that can walk? 480

Reproduction of Flowering Plants 481

- **22.10** The flower is the organ of sexual reproduction i angiosperms 481
- **22.11** The development of pollen and ovules culminates in fertilization 482
- 22.12 The ovule develops into a see 483
- 22.13 The ovary typically develops into a frui 484
- **22.14** Seed germination continues the life cycle 485
- **22.15** Asexual reproduction produces plant clones 486

Chapter Review 487

23 Nutrition in Plants 489

The Uptake and Transport of Plant Nutrients 491

- 23.1 Plants acquire nutrients from air, water, and soil 491
- **23.2** The plasma membranes of root cells control solute uptake 492
- 23.3 Transpiration pulls water up xylem vessels 493
- 23.4 Guard cells control transpiration 494
- **23.5** Phloem transports sugars 495

Plant Nutrients and the Soil 497

- **23.6** Plant health depends on the acquisition of essential inorganic nutrients 497
- **23.7 EVERYDAY BIOLOGY** Fertilizers can help to prevent nutrient deficiencie 498
- 23.8 Fertile soil supports plant growth 499
- **23.9** Most plants depend on bacteria to supply nitrogen and on fungi to supply phosphorous 500
- **23.10 RUMOUR HAS IT** Is organically farmed food better for your health and for the environment? 501
- **23.11 BIOLOGY AND SOCIETY** Vertical farming may help to supply the rapidly growing human population 502
- **23.12 EVOLUTION CONNECTION** Some plants have evolved other methods to acquire nutrients 503

Chapter Review 503

24 Control Systems in Plants 506

Plant Hormones 508

- **24.1** Experiments on how plants turn toward light led to the discovery of a plant hormone 508
- **24.2** Five major types of hormones regulate plant growth and development 510
- **24.3** Auxin stimulates the elongation of cells in young shoots 510
- 24.4 Cytokinins stimulate cell division 512
- **24.5** Gibberellins affect stem elongation and have numerous other effect 513

- 24.6 Abscisic acid inhibits many plant processes 514
- **24.7** Ethylene triggers fruit ripening and other aging processes 514
- **24.8 RUMOUR HAS IT** Is it only deciduous trees and shrubs that lose their leaves? 515
- **24.9 EVERYDAY BIOLOGY** Plant hormones have many agricultural uses 516

Responses to Stimuli 517

- **24.10** Tropisms orient plant growth toward or away from environmental stimuli 517
- 24.11 Plants have internal clocks 518
- **24.12** Plants mark the seasons by measuring photoperiod 519
- **24.13** Phytochromes are light detectors that may help to set the biological clock 520
- **24.14 EVOLUTION CONNECTION** Defences against herbivores and infectious microbes have evolved in plants 521

Chapter Review 523



25 Unifying Concepts of Animal Structure and Function 526

Structure and Function in Animal Tissues 528

- **25.1** Structure fits function at all levels of organization in the animal body 528
- **25.2 EVOLUTION CONNECTION** An animal's form reflects natural selection 529
- **25.3** Tissues are groups of cells with a common structure and function 529
- **25.4** Epithelial tissue covers the body and lines its organs and cavities 530
- **25.5** Connective tissue binds and supports other tissues 531
- **25.6** Muscle tissue functions in movement 532
- **25.7** Nervous tissue forms a communication network 532

Organs and Organ Systems 533

- 25.8 Organs are made up of tissues 533
- **25.9 EVERYDAY BIOLOGY** Bioengineers are learning to produce tissues and organs for transplants 533
- **25.10** Organ systems work together to perform life's functions 534
- **25.11** The integumentary system protects the bod 536
- **25.12 RUMOUR HAS IT** Do polar bears have fibre optic hair 537

External Exchange and Internal Regulation 538

25.13 Structural adaptations enhance exchange with the environment 538

- 25.14 Animals regulate their internal environment 539
- 25.15 Homeostasis depends on negative feedback 540
- **25.16** An animal's regulation of body temperature helps to maintain homeostasis 540
- 25.17 Heat is gained or lost in four ways 541
- **25.18** Thermoregulation involves adaptations that balance heat gain and loss 541
- **25.19** Animals balance their level of water and solutes through osmoregulation 542

Chapter Review 544

26 Nutrition in Animals 546

Obtaining and Processing Food 548

- **26.1** Animals obtain and ingest their food in a variety of ways 548
- 26.2 Overview: Food processing occurs in four stages 549
- **26.3** Digestion occurs in specialized compartments 550
- **26.4 EVOLUTION CONNECTION** Evolutionary adaptations of vertebrate digestive systems relate to diet 551

The Human Digestive System 552

- **26.5** The human digestive system consists of an alimentary canal and accessory organs 552
- 26.6 Digestion begins in the oral cavity 553
- **26.7** The stomach stores food and breaks it down with acid and enzymes 554
- **26.8 EVERYDAY BIOLOGY** Digestive ailments include acid reflux and gastric ulcers 555
- **26.9** The small intestine is the major organ of chemical digestion and nutrient absorption 556
- **26.10** One of the liver's many functions is processing nutrient-laden blood from the intestines 558
- **26.11** The large intestine compacts the fece 558
- **26.12 RUMOUR HAS IT** Is there really a coffee made from monkey dung? 559

Nutrition 560

- 26.13 Overview: An animal's diet must satisfy three needs 560
- 26.14 Chemical energy powers the body 560
- 26.15 An animal's diet must supply essential nutrients 561
- **26.16 EVERYDAY BIOLOGY** A healthy human diet includes 13 vitamins and many essential minerals 562
- **26.17 EVOLUTION CONNECTION** The human health problem of obesity may reflect our evolutionary pas 564
- **26.18 EVERYDAY BIOLOGY** Diet can influence risk of cardiovascular disease and cancer 565

Chapter Review 567

27 Gas Exchange 569

Mechanisms of Gas Exchange 571

27.1 Overview: Gas exchange in humans involves breathing, transport of gases, and exchange with body cells 571

- **27.2** Animals exchange O₂ and CO₂ across moist body surfaces 571
- **27.3** The tracheal system of insects provides direct exchange between the air and body cells 573
- **27.4** Gills are adapted for gas exchange in aquatic environments 573
- **27.5 EVOLUTION CONNECTION** The evolution of lungs facilitated the movement of tetrapods onto land 575
- **27.6 RUMOUR HAS IT** Can turtles really breathe through their backsides? 575

The Human Respiratory System 576

- **27.7** In mammals, branching tubes convey air to lungs located in the chest cavity 576
- **27.8 EVERYDAY BIOLOGY** Smoking is a serious assault on the respiratory system 578
- **27.9** Negative pressure breathing ventilates your lungs 578
- 27.10 Breathing is automatically controlled 579

Transport of Gases in the Human Body 580

- 27.11 Blood transports respiratory gases 580
- **27.12** Hemoglobin carries O_2 and has other functions 581
- **27.13 EVERYDAY BIOLOGY** The human fetus exchanges gases with the mother's blood 582

Chapter Review 583

$\mathbf{28}$ Circulation and Waste Removal 585

Circulatory Systems 587

- **28.1** Circulatory systems facilitate exchange with all body tissues 587
- **28.2 EVOLUTION CONNECTION** Vertebrate cardiovascular systems reflect evolutio 588

Blood and Blood Vessels 589

- **28.3** Blood consists of red and white blood cells suspended in plasma 589
- **28.4 BIOLOGY AND SOCIETY** Donating blood and bone marrow saves lives 590
- 28.5 Blood clots plug leaks when blood vessels are injured 592
- **28.6 RUMOUR HAS IT** Is the blood in our veins blue? 592
- **28.7** The structure of blood vessels fits their functio 593
- **28.8** Blood pressure and velocity reflect the structure and arrangement of blood vessels 594
- **28.9** Smooth muscle controls the distribution of blood 596
- **28.10** Capillaries allow the transfer of substances through their walls 597

The Human Cardiovascular System and Heart 598

- **28.11** The human cardiovascular system illustrates the double circulation of mammals 598
- **28.12** The heart contracts and relaxes rhythmicall 599
- **28.13** The SA node sets the tempo of the heartbea 600
- 28.14 EVERYDAY BIOLOGY What is a heart attack? 601

The Circulatory System and Waste Removal 602

- **28.15 EVOLUTION CONNECTION** The circulatory system transports different nitrogenous wastes in animals depending on evolutionary history and habitat 602
- **28.16** Overview: The key processes of the urinary system are filtration, reabsorption, secretion, and excretio 603
- **28.17** The human excretory syste 604
- **28.18** Blood filtrate is refined to urine through reabsorptio and secretion 606
- 28.19 EVERYDAY BIOLOGY Kidney dialysis can be life-saving 607

Chapter Review 608

29 Hormones and Endocrine Systems 611

The Nature of Chemical Regulation 613

- 29.1 Chemical signals coordinate body functions 613
- **29.2** Hormones affect target cells by using two main signalling mechanisms 614

The Vertebrate Endocrine System 615

- **29.3** Overview: The vertebrate endocrine system consists of more than a dozen major glands 615
- **29.4** The hypothalamus, which is closely tied to the pituitary, connects the nervous and endocrine systems 617

Hormones and Homeostasis 619

- **29.5** Hormones regulate the excretory system 619
- **29.6** The thyroid regulates development and metabolis 620
- **29.7** Hormones from the thyroid and parathyroid glands maintain calcium homeostasis 621
- **29.8** Pancreatic hormones regulate blood glucose levels 622
- **29.9 BIOLOGY AND SOCIETY** Diabetes is a major concern for First Nations peoples in Canada 623
- 29.10 The adrenal glands mobilize responses to stres 624
- 29.11 The gonads secrete sex hormone 626
- **29.12 RUMOUR HAS IT** Does consuming soy products cause feminization in males? 627
- **29.13 EVOLUTION CONNECTION** A single hormone can perform a variety of functions in different animal 627

Chapter Review 628

30 Animal Reproduction and Development 630

Asexual and Sexual Reproduction 632

- **30.1** Asexual reproduction results in the generation of genetically identical offsprin 632
- **30.2** Sexual reproduction results in the generation of genetically unique offsprin 632

Principles of Embryonic Development 634

30.3 Fertilization results in a zygote and triggers embryonic development 634

- **30.4** Cleavage produces a ball of cells from the zygote 636
- **30.5** Gastrulation produces a three-layered embryo 637
- **30.6** Organs start to form after gastrulatio 638
- **30.7** Multiple processes give form to the developing animal 640
- **30.8 EVOLUTION CONNECTION** Pattern formation during embryonic development is controlled by ancient genes 640

Human Reproduction 642

- **30.9** Reproductive anatomy of the human female 642
- 30.10 Reproductive anatomy of the human male 644
- **30.11** The formation of sperm and egg cells requires meiosis 646
- **30.12 RUMOUR HAS IT** Can using a laptop reduce male fertility? 648
- **30.13** Hormones synchronize cyclic changes in the ovary and uterus 649
- **30.14 EVERYDAY BIOLOGY** Contraception can prevent unwanted pregnancy 651

Human Development 652

- **30.15** The embryo and placenta take shape during the firs month of pregnancy 652
- **30.16** Human development from conception to birth is divided into three trimesters 654
- **30.17** Childbirth is induced by hormones and other chemical signals 656
- **30.18 BIOLOGY AND SOCIETY** Reproductive technologies increase our reproductive options 657

Chapter Review 658

31 Neurons and Nervous Systems 660

Nervous System Structure and Function 662

- **31.1** Nervous systems receive sensory input, interpret it, and send out appropriate commands 662
- **31.2** Neurons are the functional units of nervous systems 663

An Overview of Animal Nervous Systems 664

- **31.3 EVOLUTION CONNECTION** The evolution of animal nervous systems reflects changes in body symmetr 664
- **31.4** Vertebrate nervous systems are highly centralized 665
- **31.5 BIOLOGY AND SOCIETY** Spinal cord injuries 666
- **31.6** The peripheral nervous system of vertebrates is a functional hierarchy 667

Nerve Signals and Their Transmission 669

- **31.7** Nerve function depends on charge differences across neuron membranes 669
- **31.8** A nerve signal begins as a change in the membrane potential 669
- **31.9** The action potential propagates itself along the axon 671
- **31.10** Neurons communicate at synapses 672
- **31.11** Chemical synapses enable complex information to be processed 673
- **31.12 EVERYDAY BIOLOGY** Many drugs act at chemical synapses 674

The Human Brain 674

- **31.13** The structure of a living supercomputer: The huma brain 674
- **31.14** The cerebral cortex is a mosaic of specialized, interactive regions 676
- **31.15 EVERYDAY BIOLOGY** Injuries and brain operations provide insight into brain function 677
- **31.16** Several parts of the brain regulate sleep and arousal 678
- **31.17 RUMOUR HAS IT** Do we use only 10% of our brains? 678
- **31.18** The limbic system is involved in emotions, memory, and learning 679
- **31.19 EVERYDAY BIOLOGY** Changes in brain physiology can produce neurological disorders 680

Chapter Review 682

32 Sensation 685

Sensory Reception 687

- **32.1** Specialized sensory receptors detect five categories of stimuli 687
- **32.2** Sensory organs share a common cellular basis 689
- **32.3** Sensory receptors convert stimulus energy to action potentials 689

Hearing and Balance 691

- **32.4** The ear converts air pressure waves to action potentials that are perceived as sound 691
- **32.5** The inner ear houses our organs of balanc 693
- **32.6** EVERYDAY BIOLOGY Why does balance deteriorate as we age? 694

Vision 695

- **32.7 EVOLUTION CONNECTION** Several types of eyes have evolved independently among animals 695
- **32.8** Vertebrates have single-lens eyes that focus by changing position or shape 696
- **32.9 EVERYDAY BIOLOGY** Artificial lenses or surgery can correct focusing problems 697
- **32.10** The human retina contains two types of photoreceptors: rods and cones 698

Taste and Smell 700

- **32.11** Taste and odour receptors detect chemicals present in solution or air 700
- 32.12 RUMOUR HAS IT Can pets smell human illnesses? 700
- **32.13** Review: The central nervous system couples stimulus with response 701

Chapter Review 701

33 Animal Locomotion 704

Movement and Locomotion 706

- **33.1** Locomotion requires energy to overcome friction and gravity 706
- **33.2** Skeletons function in support, movement, and protection 708

The Vertebrate Skeleton 710

- **33.3 EVOLUTION CONNECTION** Vertebrate skeletons are variations on an ancient theme 710
- **33.4** Bones are complex living organs 711
- **33.5 EVERYDAY BIOLOGY** Healthy bones resist stress and heal from injuries 712
- **33.6** Joints permit different types of movemen 713

Muscle Contraction and Movement 713

- **33.7** The skeleton and muscles interact in movemen 713
- **33.8** Each muscle cell has its own contractile apparatus 714
- **33.9** A muscle contracts when thin filaments slide along thick filament 714
- **33.10** Motor neurons stimulate muscle contraction 716
- **33.11** Aerobic respiration supplies most of the energy for exercise 717
- **33.12 RUMOUR HAS IT** Does lactic acid buildup cause muscle soreness after exercise 718
- **33.13 EVERYDAY BIOLOGY** Characteristics of muscle fibre affec athletic performance 718

Chapter Review 720

34 Animal Immune Systems 722

Innate Immunity 724

- **34.1** All animals have innate immunity 724
- **34.2** Inflammation mobilizes the innate immune response 725
- **34.3** The lymphatic system becomes a crucial battleground during infection 726

Adaptive Immunity 727

- **34.4** The adaptive immune response counters specifi invaders 727
- 34.5 EVERYDAY BIOLOGY Seasonal flu shot 728
- **34.6 RUMOUR HAS IT** Do childhood vaccines cause autism? 729
- 34.7 Lymphocytes mount a dual defence 730
- **34.8** Clonal selection musters defensive forces against specific antigens 731
- **34.9** Helper T cells stimulate the humoral and cell-mediated immune responses 733
- **34.10** Antibodies are the weapons of the humoral immune response 735
- **34.11** Antibodies mark antigens for elimination 736
- 34.12 Cytotoxic T cells destroy infected body cells 737

Inappropriate Immune Responses 737

- **34.13** The immune system depends on molecular identificatio 737
- **34.14 EVERYDAY BIOLOGY** Allergies are overreactions to certain environmental antigens 738
- **34.15 BIOLOGY AND SOCIETY** The hygiene hypothesis: Are our kids too clean? 739
- **34.16** Some pathogens have ways to evade our immune system 740

Chapter Review 740



35 The Biosphere: An Introduction to Earth's Diverse Environments 744

The Biosphere 746

- **35.1** Ecologists study how organisms interact with their environment at several levels 746
- **35.2 EVERYDAY BIOLOGY** The science of ecology provides insight into environmental problems 747
- **35.3** Physical and chemical factors influence life in the biosphere 748
- **35.4 EVOLUTION CONNECTION** Organisms adapt to abiotic and biotic factors by means of natural selection 749
- **35.5** Regional climate influences the distribution of terrestrial communities 750

Aquatic Biomes 752

- **35.6** Sunlight and substrate are key factors in the distribution of marine organisms 752
- **35.7 RUMOUR HAS IT** Do arctic fishes have anti-freeze 754
- **35.8** Current, sunlight, and nutrients are important abiotic factors in freshwater biomes 755

Terrestrial Biomes 756

- **35.9** Terrestrial biomes reflect regional variations in climate 756
- 35.10 Polar ice covers the land at high latitudes 757
- 35.11 Long, bitter-cold winters characterize the tundra 758
- **35.12** Coniferous forests are often dominated by a few species of trees 758
- 35.13 Broadleaf trees dominate temperate forests 759
- **35.14** Temperate grasslands include the North American prairie 759
- **35.15** Deserts and steppes are defined by their drynes 760
- 35.16 Spiny shrubs dominate the chaparral 761
- 35.17 Savannas are grasslands with scattered trees 761
- **35.18** Tropical forests cluster near the equator 762
- **35.19** The global water cycle connects aquatic and terrestrial biomes 763

Chapter Review 764

36 Behavioural Ecology 767

The Scientific Study of Behaviour 769

- **36.1** Behavioural ecologists ask both proximate and ultimate questions 769
- **36.2** Fixed action patterns are innate behaviours 769
- **36.3** Behaviour is the result of both genetic and environmental factors 771

Learning 772

- **36.4** Habituation is a simple type of learning 772
- **36.5** Imprinting requires both innate behaviour and experience 773
- **36.6 EVERYDAY BIOLOGY** Imprinting poses problems and opportunities for conservation programs 774
- **36.7** Animal movement may be a simple response to stimuli or require spatial learning 775
- **36.8** Movements of animals may depend on cognitive maps 776
- **36.9** Animals may learn to associate a stimulus or behaviour with a response 777
- **36.10** Social learning employs observation and imitation of others 777
- 36.11 Problem-solving behaviour relies on cognition 778

Survival and Reproductive Success 779

- **36.12** Behavioural ecologists use cost-benefit analysis to study foraging 779
- **36.13** Communication is an essential element of interactions between animals 780
- **36.14** Mating behaviour often includes elaborate courtship rituals 781
- **36.15** Mating systems and parental care enhance reproductive success 782
- **36.16 RUMOUR HAS IT** Do birth control pills alter animal behaviour? 783

Social Behaviour and Sociobiology 783

- **36.17** Sociobiology places social behaviour in an evolutionary context 783
- **36.18** Territorial behaviour parcels out space and resources 784
- **36.19** Agonistic behaviour often resolves confrontations between competitors 784
- **36.20** Dominance hierarchies are maintained by agonistic behaviour 785
- **36.21** Jane Goodall revolutionized our understanding of chimpanzee behaviour 785

Chapter Review 787

37 Population Ecology 789

Population Structure and Dynamics 791

- **37.1** Population ecology is the study of how and why populations change 791
- **37.2** Density and distribution patterns are important population variables 791
- **37.3** Life tables track survivorship in populations 792
- **37.4** Idealized models predict patterns of population growth 793
- **37.5** Multiple factors may limit population growth 795
- 37.6 Some populations have "boom-and-bust" cycles 796
- **37.7 RUMOUR HAS IT** Do lemmings commit mass suicide by jumping over cliffs 797
- 37.8 EVOLUTION CONNECTION Evolution shapes life histories 798

37.9 BIOLOGY AND SOCIETY Principles of population ecology may help to save the Atlantic cod 799

The Human Population 800

- **37.10** The human population continues to increase, but the growth rate is slowing 800
- **37.11 BIOLOGY AND SOCIETY** Age structures reveal social and economic trends 802
- **37.12 EVERYDAY BIOLOGY** An ecological footprint is a measure of resource consumption 802

Chapter Review 804

38 Community Ecology 806

Community Structure 808

- **38.1** A community includes all the organisms inhabiting a particular area 808
- **38.2** Biodiversity includes relative abundance and species richness 808
- **38.3** Interspecific interactions are fundamental to community structure 809
- **38.4** Competition may occur when a shared resource is limited 810
- **38.5 EVOLUTION CONNECTION** Predation leads to diverse adaptations in prey species 811
- **38.6 EVOLUTION CONNECTION** Herbivory leads to diverse adaptations in plants 812

Community Dynamics 813

- **38.7** Trophic structure is a key factor in community dynamics 813
- **38.8** Food chains interconnect, forming food webs 814
- **38.9** Organisms that perform a similar ecological role can be grouped together in a guild 815
- **38.10** Keystone species have a disproportionate impact on diversity 816
- **38.11** Disturbance is a prominent feature of most communities 817
- **38.12** Invasive species can devastate communities 818
- **38.13 RUMOUR HAS IT** Are disturbances always detrimental? 819

Landscape Ecology 820

- **38.14** Communities change structure across the landscape 820
- **38.15** Transition zones occur between community patches in the landscape 821

Chapter Review 823

39 Symbioses 825

Organisms Live Together 827

- **39.1** Organisms do not live in isolation 827
- **39.2** One organism may live inside of another 828
- **39.3 EVOLUTION CONNECTION** A rare case of organism-organelle symbiosis 828

Relationships Affect the Fitness of the Partners 829

- **39.4** Both partners benefit in mutualis 829
- **39.5** Plants benefit from several mutualistic relationship 830
- **39.6** In parasitism, one partner benefits at the cost of the other 831
- **39.7** Parasites must get from one host to another 833
- **39.8 EVERYDAY BIOLOGY** Don't let a parasite break your dog's heart 834
- **39.9 RUMOUR HAS IT** Can tapeworms help you lose weight? 835
- **39.10** One partner benefits while the other is unaffected i commensalism 837
- **39.11** In altruism, one organism reduces its fitness to benefi another 838
- **39.12** Many organisms acquire indirect benefits through mimicry 838

Relationships Form Through Co-Evolution 839

- 39.13 Symbiotic relationships do not form overnight 839
- **39.14 EVOLUTION CONNECTION** Relationships are fostered by special adaptations 841
- Chapter Review 842

40 Ecosystem Ecology 845

Ecosystem Structure 847

- **40.1** Ecosystem ecology emphasizes energy flow and chemical cycling 847
- **40.2 RUMOUR HAS IT** Do all ecosystems get their energy from the sun? 847
- **40.3** Primary production sets the energy budget for ecosystems 848

Ecosystem Dynamics 849

- **40.4** Energy supply limits the length of food chains 849
- **40.5 EVERYDAY BIOLOGY** A pyramid of production explains the ecological cost of meat 850
- **40.6** Chemicals are cycled between organic matter and abiotic reservoirs 850
- **40.7** The carbon cycle depends on photosynthesis and respiration 851
- **40.8** The nitrogen cycle depends on bacteri 852
- **40.9** The phosphorus cycle depends on the weathering of rock 853
- **40.10 EVERYDAY BIOLOGY** Too many nutrients are killing Lake Winnipeg 854
- **40.11 BIOLOGY AND SOCIETY** Ecosystem services are essential to human well-being 855

Chapter Review 856

41 Conservation and Sustainability 858

The Loss of Biodiversity 860

41.1 Loss of biodiversity includes the loss of ecosystems, species, and genes 860

- **41.2 EVERYDAY BIOLOGY** Habitat loss, invasive species, overharvesting, pollution, and climate change are major threats to biodiversity 862
- **41.3** Rapid warming is changing the global climate 864
- **41.4 BIOLOGY AND SOCIETY** Human activities are responsible for rising concentrations of greenhouse gases 865
- **41.5 RUMOUR HAS IT** Does bovine flatulence contribute to climate change? 866
- **41.6** Global climate change affects biomes, ecosystems, communities, and populations 866
- **41.7 EVOLUTION CONNECTION** Climate change is an agent of natural selection 868

Conservation Biology and Sustainability 868

- **41.8** Protecting endangered populations is one goal of conservation biology 868
- **41.9** Sustaining ecosystems and landscapes is a conservation priority 870
- **41.10** Establishing protected areas slows the loss of biodiversity 870
- **41.11** Zoned reserves are an attempt to reverse ecosystem disruption 872
- **41.12 EVERYDAY BIOLOGY** The Yellowstone to Yukon Conservation Initiative seeks to preserve biodiversity by connecting protected areas 873

- **41.13** The study of how to restore degraded habitats is an evolving science 875
- **41.14 BIOLOGY AND SOCIETY** Sustainable development is an ultimate goal 876

Chapter Review 877

Appendix A: The Periodic Table A-1

- Appendix B: The Amino Acids of Proteins A-2
- Appendix C: Some Organic Functional Groups and Their Properties A-3
- Appendix D: The Language of Biology A-5
- Appendix E: Answers to Chapter Review Questions A-16
- Glossary G-1
- Credits C-1
- Index I-1

Preface

nspired by thousands of students in our own classes over the years and the enthusiastic feedback from many professors who used earlier U.S. Editions, we are delighted to present the Canadian Edition of Campbell Biology: Concepts and Connections. We worked hard to reflect the evolving need of today's courses and students, as well as current progress in biology. This book's title continues to honour Neil Campbell' founding role and his many contributions to biology education. The Canadian Edition maintains the dual purposes of prio versions: to engage students from a wide variety of majors in the wonders of the living world and to show them how biology relates to their own existence and the world they inhabit. Most of these students will not become biologists themselves, but their lives will be touched by biology every day. Understanding the concepts of biology and their connections to our lives is more important than ever. Whether we are concerned with our own health or the health of our planet, a familiarity with biology is essential. This basic knowledge plus an appreciatio for how science works are elements of good citizenship in an era when informed evaluations of health issues, environmental problems, and applications of new technology are critical.

The Canadian Edition

In creating a Canadian Edition of *Campbell Biology: Concepts and Connections*, our primary goal is to expose students to biology that they will encounter in Canada. Relating content to local experiences provides a powerful teaching strategy and makes learning more meaningful. The focus on Canadians an Canadian issues, examples, statistics, policies and regulations, flora, fauna, and species allows students to form deeper conections with the material. Canadians have made significan contributions to our current understanding of biology, and accordingly this text features their discoveries as well as research conducted in Canada. When students read about a scientist from their own institution, the subject matter comes to life.

Concepts and Connections

Concepts Biology is a vast subject that gets bigger every year, but an introductory biology course is still only one or two semesters long. This introductory biology textbook i the first to use concept modules to help students recogniz and focus on the main ideas of each chapter. Each module's heading is a carefully crafted statement of a key concept. Fo example, "Two photosystems connected by an electron transport chain generate ATP and NADPH" announces a key concept about the light reactions of photosynthesis (Module 7.8). Such a concept heading serves as a focal point, and the module's text and illustrations converge on that concept with explanation and, often, analogies. The module text walks t student through the illustrations, just as an educator might do in class. And in teaching a sequential process, such as the one diagrammed in Figure 7.8A, we number the steps in

the text to correspond to numbered steps in the figure. The synergy between a module's verbal and graphic components transforms the concept heading into an idea with meaning to the student. The checkpoint question at the end of eac module encourages students to test themselves as they proceed through a chapter. Finally, the chapter review lists all the concept statements under the overarching section titles, explicitly reminding students of what they have just studied.

Connections Students are more motivated to study biology when they can connect it to their own lives and interests—for example, to health issues, economic problems, environmental quality, ethical controversies, and social responsibility. In this edition, red tabs labelled *Everyday Biology* indicate the numerous application modules that go beyond core biological concepts. The chapter-opening essays and other sections in th text make connections for readers. Moreover, we connect the content of each chapter to the grand unifying theme of evolution, without which the study of life has no coherence. Thi book remains the only nonmajors biology text to connect every single chapter to evolution, with highlights featured in the green-tabbed *Evolution Connection* modules.

Special Features

• See where the chapter takes you: *Big Ideas* provide a road map to overarching concepts with a visual list at the beginning of each chapter, and subheadings throughout to orient students.



- Discover and explore: The opening essays of each chapter introduce the topic through stories written to pique interest.
- Make connections: Everyday Biology modules relate biology to everyday life and interests, making the subject matter relevant and more meaningful.



- **19.12** Angiosperms sustain us—and add spice to our diets as currency. Rent and taxes could be paid in peppercorns; as a form o wealth, peppercorns were included in dowries and left in wills. The search for a sea route to obtain pepper and other precious spices from India and Southeast Asia led to the Age of Exploration and had a lasting impact on European history. 2 Suppose you found a cluster of pepper berries like the ones in Figure 19.12. How would you know that they are fruits? Figure 19.12 DELLY THAS SEEDS THEFTER IT. nigrun
- · Practice good citizenship: Biology and Society modules highlight the role of biology in various aspects of society and what students can do to help.

AND SOCIETY 41.4 Human activities are responsible for rising concentrations of greenhouse gases

fithout its blanket of natural greenhouse gases such as CO_2 and ater vapour to trap heat, Earth would be too cold to support of BL. However, increasing the insulation that the blanket voides is making the planet uncomfortably warm, and that crease is occurring rapidly. For 650 000 years, the atmospheric neutration of CO₂ did not sceed 300 parts per million (ppm) perindustral concentration was 200 ppm. Today, atmospheric emination of CO₃, did not exceed 300 parts per million (ppm) reindustrial concentration was 200 ppm. Today, atmospheri is approximately 385 ppm. The levels of nitrous code (NO₃) methane (CH₃), which also trap heat in the atmosphere, increased dramatically too (**Figure 41**,40, O₂) and NO₄ elevased when fixed methal too **a**, and natural gas—are ed. NO₃ ba ion creased when nitrogen furtilizers are used when the MO₄ and the set of the set of the set of the set of the piculater. Landfills are a factor responsible for increases of motion (**C**). uide (N2O) nsus of scientists, as reported by the





Let's take a doser look at CO₂ the dominant greenhouse gas. Recall from Module 40.7 that atmospheric CO₂ is a major reservoir for carbon. (CI₄ is also part of that reservoir) it CO₂ is removed from the atmosphere by the process of photosymbiosis and sorted in organic molecules such as carbolydrate ($\frac{Pgree 4.140}{Lorbor reservoir Learbor rese$ carbon reservoir. I he carbon-containing molecules in ganisms may be used in the process of cellular respirat releases carbon in the form of CO₂. Nonliving biomas decomposed by microorganisms or fungi that also rele

release carbon in the form of CO₂. Nonliving biomass may be documposed by microgenatisms of might that also release CO₂. Overall, uptake of CO₂ by photosynthesis roughly equals the release of CO₃ by cloudlar respiration. CO₄ is also exchanged be treen the atmosphere and the surface waters of the occans. Fossif fuels constit followings that was havined under scaled ments without being completely documposed (see Module 15 The burning of Const fluels and wood, which is also an organi matterial, can be thought of as a rapid form of discomposition While, orbitar restantion releases energy from organic models. The During as non-neuronal form of decomposition, While callidar experiment relations energy from cognite turb-ecules slowly and harmenses it to make ATP, combustion libe-carbon atoms that make up the organic fuel are released in CO₂. The CO₂ flocking into the atmosphere from combustion of fossil fields may be absorbed by photosynthetic organisms and incorporated horizons. But disconstration has significantly modated by this pathway: CO₂ may also be absorbed into the exceen. For decases, the oceann have been absorbing consider-ably more CO₂ than they have released, and they will continue do so so, but the excess CO₂ ho galaxies in ocean end are discultarily. When CO₂ absolves in water, it becomes carbonic disc. Recently, meanarile discreases in ocean pit have raised disc. Recently, meanarile discreases in ocean pit have raised. acid. Recently, measurable decreases in ocean pH hav concern among biologists. Organisms that construct as a machine on the facility of the second se ost likely to be af

> Greenhouse gas emissions are accel-rating. From 2000 to 2005, global CO₂ emissions inc. in the preceding 10-year spen. further climate change is inevitable 'be next module, we will tak 'be about th

- Learn about the mechanisms underlying evolution: *Evolution Connection* modules in every chapter relate evolution to a wide spectrum of biology topics and help to explain the mechanisms underlying evolution and the evidence for it.
- **Review the main points:** The *Reviewing the Concepts* section provides a helpful summary of the chapter along with key diagrams.
- Link the chapter's key concepts: *Connecting the Concepts* activities test students' ability to relate topics from the different modules and include concept mapping, labelling, and categorizing exercises.
- **Prepare for assessment:** Questions in the *Testing Your Knowledge* section help students to prepare for upcoming tests.
- Learn the Language of Biology: Appendix D presents an etymology of biological terminology. Breaking down words into their prefixes, roots, and suffixes assists with learni new terms.

This Book's Flexibility

Though a biology textbook's table of contents must be linear biology itself is more like a web of related concepts without a single starting point or prescribed path. Courses can navigate this network starting with molecules, with ecology, or somewhere in between. The Canadian Edition of *Campbell Biology: Concepts and Connections* provides flexibility as the seven units of the boo are largely self-contained, and in a number of the units, chapters can be assigned in a different order without much loss of cohe ence. The numbered modules make it easy to omit modules or t relocate modules within a syllabus.

Organizational and Content Highlights of the Canadian Edition

Chapter 1 Designed to engage Canadian students' interest in the discipline from the start, the chapter-opening essay features our cover subject, the Kermode bear. This topic is revisite throughout the chapter and elsewhere in the book. Chapter 1 sets the stage for what is to come by introducing several themes central to the field. Evolution is presented as the unifying concept tha explains the unity and diversity of life on Earth. This introductor chapter introduces the scientific method as a means to understan the world around us, with a focus on observations and hypotheses. The chapter ends with an examination of connections betwee biology, technology, and society, which shows how biology can be linked to our everyday lives.

Unit I – The Living Cell The first unit delves into the lives of 1 – ing cells.

Chapter 2 begins with an examination of the basic chemistry necessary to understanding biology, such as atoms and compounds, chemical bonding, and the properties of water. This chapter incorporates an engaging discussion about acid precipitation in Eastern Canada.

Chapter 3 moves into the chemistry of the major biological molecules, including carbohydrates, proteins, nucleic acids, and lipids. Students will learn about the membrane composition of an Arctic animal of interest. Chapter 4 tackles cellular structure—that is, cell and cellular components including the nucleus, endomembrane system, mitochondria and chloroplasts, and the cytoskeleton. This chapter features the production of silk proteins by Montrealbased Nexia Biotechnologies.

Opening with an essay on bioluminescence, Chapter 5 examines cellular components with a focus on the structure and function of cell membranes. The exploration of cell function progresses into biochemical reactions, including the flow of energy and how enzymes function. This chapter showcases the research of Dr. Berghuis at McGill University on enzyme inhibitors.

The last two chapters of this unit explain how cells obtain energy to perform work. Chapter 6 begins with an overview of cellular respiration, followed by a more detailed explanation of each of the major steps. An alternative metabolic pathway, fermentation, is introduced, and highlights research on fermentation during beer production by Dr. Speers at Dalhousie University. The chapter concludes with a discussion connecting the major metabolic pathways.

Photosynthesis is the topic of Chapter 7. Following an overview of the entire pathway, this chapter presents a detailed explanation of the light-dependent reactions and lightindependent reactions. Chapter 7 showcases Canadian biomass energy plantations growing switchgrass, a C_4 plant.

Unit II – Cellular Reproduction and Genetics Unit II explains the relationship between DNA, chromosomes, and organisms. Students learn that genetics is not purely hypothetical, but connects in many important and interesting ways to their lives, human society, and other life on Earth. This edition provides a basic understanding of genetics t some of the latest discoveries in epigenetics.

Chapter 8 talks about the two major mechanisms of cell division in the eukaryotes, mitosis and meiosis. After explaining the various roles of mitosis, a detailed discussion on the eukaryotic cell cycle follows. Inheritance and genetic recombination are introduced as we look at meiosis and crossing over. A module in this chapter explores the research of University of Calgary's Dr. Buret on the benefits of epidermal growth factor.

Launching with a chapter-opening essay on the phylogeny of show dogs, the discussion of inheritance continues in Chapter 9 with an examination of the patterns of inheritance, including Mendel's laws and their variations. After an interesting discussion on genetic screening as well as the incidence of cystic fibrosis in the small, isolated population of Saguenay–Lac-Saint-Jean, Quebec, this chapter concludes by developing the link between meiosis, Mendelian inheritance, and chromosomal behaviour in an exploration of the chromosomal basis of inheritance.

Fans of the TV series *Breaking Bad* will find Chapter 10's opening essay on the effects of ricin, a toxin, interesting. The flow of information from gene to protein is the topic of this chapter. This discussion includes examinations of DNA structure, DNA replication, transcription, and translation.

Chapter 11 explains how gene expression is controlled. We end this chapter with discussions on two practical examples of controlling gene expression: cloning and cancer.

The final chapter of this unit, Chapter 12, identifies DNA technologies such as gene cloning, genetically modified

organisms, DNA profiling, and the study of whole genomes in the field of genomics. Module 12.8 features the environmentally transgenic "Enviropig" developed at the University of Guelph.

Unit III – Concepts of Evolution A main goal of this book is to present the basic principles of evolution and natural selection, the evidence that support these theories, as well as their relevance to all of biology and to the lives of students.

Chapter 13 explains theories regarding the origins of life on Earth and major evolutionary events. Students will learn more about the Burgess Shale, one of the world's most celebrated fossil fields found in the Rocky Mountains of British Columbia.

Chapter 14 covers the mechanisms of evolution. This chapter begins by explaining that populations are the unit of evolution and goes on to describe both microevolution and macroevolution.

Chapter 15 concludes the evolution unit with an examination of speciation and phylogeny. We introduce students first to different concepts of what a species is and then to how new species can form after barriers to reproduction are established. Module 15.2 explores the hybridization of grizzly and polar bears in the Canadian Arctic. A discussion of phylogeny and the tree of life provides an excellent link between evolution and the next unit on the diversity of life.

Unit IV – The Evolution of Biodiversity The diversity uni surveys all life on Earth in less than 125 pages! Descriptions and illustrations of the unifying characteristics of each major group of organisms, along with a small sample of its diversity, make up much of the content. Two recurring elements are interwoven with these descriptions: evolutionary history and examples of relevance to our everyday lives and society at large.

Opening with an essay on the chronic wasting disease in Alberta deer populations, Chapter 16's discussion of the vast diversity of organisms on the planet starts with organisms that many consider not living: viruses and other acellular, molecular organisms. This chapter compares various viral structures and replicative cycles and several viral infections in bacteria, animals, and plants. The chapter discusses the replicative West Nile virus, a concern of many who live in Canada. Chapter 16 ends with a brief discussion on viroids and prions.

Starting with an essay that details antibiotic resistant bacteria, Chapter 17 explores the diversity and genetics of bacteria. This chapter ends by exposing students to how bacteria can affect their daily lives.

Chapter 18 surveys the diversity of the eukaryotic microorganisms, including the protists and fungi.

Chapter 19 considers the diversity of plants, including a brief exploration of their evolutionary patterns. As the major group of land plants, the final Big Idea focuses on the diversity of the flowering plants.

Invertebrate animal diversity is the topic of Chapter 20. We discuss what an animal is and survey nine of the major animal phyla. This chapter details the impact of invasive earthworms on the soil in Canadian forests. It ends with a brief discussion on the evolution of our understanding of the relationships between the major phyla.

Chapter 21 features vertebrate diversity. In this chapter, we cover the major events in the evolution of the vertebrates, including the evolution of jaws and limbs, and adaptations for life on land. The chapter concludes with a focus on the evolution of primates and humans.

Unit V – Plants: Structure and Function To help students gain an appreciation of the importance of plants, this unit presents the anatomy and physiology of angiosperms with frequent connections to the importance of plants to society.

Focusing on the flowering plants, Chapter 22's opening essay describes Cathedral Grove on Vancouver Island and then the chapter shifts into an overview of plant structure, comparing monocots with eudicots. The chapter next describes three basic organs and three tissue systems of angiosperms as well as primary and secondary growth patterns. A discussion of the mechanisms of plant reproduction and development follows this content. This chapter showcases the work by Dr. Fowler at the University of Saskatchewan on the benefits of planting winter wheat.

The text devotes Chapter 23 to plant nutrition. Covering the uptake of nutrients from the soil and their transport throughout the organism, the chapter highlights common fertilization regimes for Canadian crops.

Chapter 24 discusses how plants can regulate their growth through several plant hormones, and how plants can respond to stimuli such as light and herbivores.

Unit VI – Structure and Function of Animals Unit VI

outlines unifying concepts of animal form and function, introducing students to the major organ systems of vertebrates. Most chapters start with an overview of a general problem that animals face followed by a comparison of how different animal address this problem, within an evolutionary context. The earl modules of each chapter discuss the diversity of form and function seen in the animal kingdom. The last part of every chapte devotes a detailed presentation of human body systems, enhanced by an exploration of the health consequences of disorders in those systems.

Chapter 25 starts with an overview of the basic tissue types and organ systems seen among animals. This chapter ends with a discussion on how animals exchange matter and energy with their external environment while they regulate their internal environment.

Chapter 26 addresses animal nutrition, starting with the various ways by which animals acquire their meals. Subsequently, the human digestive system and human nutrition are explored.

The mechanisms of gas exchange seen within the animal kingdom open Chapter 27. Module 27.8 features the fascinating work by Dr. Yauk at Carleton University on the relationship between second-hand smoke and inheritable cancers; consequently, this chapter is very relevant for students. The discussion on the human respiratory system and the transport of oxygen and carbon dioxide within the human body at the end of this chapter links Chapter 27 to the circulatory system covered in Chapter 28.

Chapter 28 covers both the circulatory and urinary systems, which—given their close interactions—creates a natural flow and progression for the coverage of systems. This chapter

offers an overview of animal circulatory systems, including that of the diving sperm whale, and then delves into the human condition.

Chapter 29 focuses on the endocrine system, a third system that relies on circulation. Students can read about the nature of chemical regulation, including how hormones work, and the vertebrate endocrine system, with emphasis on the human animal. An investigation of hormone-based performance enhancing drugs will pique students' interest given the recent media attention of athletes who take those substances to improve results.

Dr. Vance Trudeau's work at the University of Ottawa on the captive breeding of endangered frog species provides an appropriate opening to Chapter 30, which is devoted to animal reproduction and development. Covering the principles of sexual reproduction and embryonic development, the chapter investigates human reproductive systems and the developing human.

Chapter 31 examines the organization and evolution of nervous systems in animals and the function of neurons and the transmission of electrical signals. This chapter highlights the research of Dr. Norman Doidge on retraining the adult brain and the work of the Rick Hansen Foundation on spinal cord injuries. The chapter concludes with an exploration of the human brain.

The examination of the nervous system continues in Chapter 32 by delving into the senses. First covering sensory reception, the chapter then focuses on hearing and balance, vision, taste, and smell.

Highlighting the University of Calgary's Dr. Cy Frank and his knee surgery techniques in the chapter-opening essay sets the tone for Chapter 33's coverage of the skeletal and muscular systems and animal locomotion. First, the chapter introduces the requirements for locomotion. This is followed by a deeper investigation of skeletons and muscle contraction. This chapter includes the research of Drs. Rudnicki (University of Ottawa), Rossi (University of British Columbia), and Tremblay (Université Laval) on satellite cells and muscle repair in Duchenne muscular dystrophy (Module 33.13).

Finally, Chapter 34 explores animal defences and their immune systems. In this chapter, we talk about innate and acquired immunities, and end with the conditions that may result from specific examples of inappropriate immune responses.

Unit VII – Ecology The final unit of this book explores t basic principles of ecology and how these principles apply to environmental challenges.

Chapter 35 explores the physical and chemical factors that influence life on Earth. Opening with an essay on Arctic sea ice, this chapter offers an overview of the major aquatic and terrestrial biomes. The chapter closes with the water cycle, which connects the biomes.

Chapter 36 revisits animals, this time focusing on behavioural ecology and the forms of learning and reproductive and social behaviours. This chapter profiles work by Dr. Wilson at the Bamfield Marine Sciences Centre on Pacific herring communication.

Chapter 37 covers population ecology by exploring population structure and dynamics, and applies these principles to the human population. This chapter includes a discussion of the Atlantic cod moratorium.

Beginning with details of the devastating effects of the mountain pine beetle, Chapter 38 covers concepts of community ecology with an exploration of aspects of community structure (that is, species interactions) as well as community dynamics (that is, disturbances). Landscape ecology, a new topic for this edition, includes a module on structural changes in communities across a landscape and a module on transition zones between adjacent communities.

A new chapter to *Campbell Biology: Concepts and Connections*, Chapter 39 on symbioses explores some of the more intimate interactions between species. It examines symbiotic relationships such as mutualism, parasitism, commensalism, altruism, and mimicry. A discussion of the co-evolution of symbioses ends this new chapter.

Chapter 40's focus is ecosystem ecology. Beginning with an examination of ecosystem structure, the chapter offers a detailed look at ecosystem dynamics, including energy flow and chemical cycling within ecosystems. Module 40.10 offers insight into the eutrophication of Lake Winnipeg.

The final chapter of Unit VII and the book features conservation and sustainability, returning to the importance of good citizenship by examining the impact of human actions. While this chapter reviews human activities that lead to a loss in biodiversity, we convey a message of hope and optimism by showcasing the restoration of aquatic ecosystems in La Mauricie National Park in Quebec and by focusing on how we can contribute to sustainability and conservation.

Appendices The appendices to this book include: the perodic table of the elements, now with electronegativity values (Appendix A); amino acids found in proteins (Appendix B); major organic functional groups and their properties (Appendix C); a new appendix on the etymology of the terminology of biology (Appendix D); and answers to the end-of-chapter review questions (Appendix E).

Instructor Ancillaries

MasteringBiology[®] www.masteringbiology.com MasteringBiology^{*} is a instructor-assigned homework system that makes it easy to organize your class, personalize your students' educational experience, and push their learning to the next level.

Designed to help maximize class time, MasteringBiology offers customizable, easy-to-assign, and automatically graded assessments and pedagogical tools that motivate students to learn outside of class and to arrive prepared for lecture.

Developed by science educators for science students and professors, the Mastering platform has over one million active users, and a proven history with over nine years of student use in 30 countries.

With MasteringBiology^{*} professors can assign pre-lecture quizzes, coaching activities, test bank questions, and more. Educators can import their own questions, and edit any of our questions or answers to match the precise language used in the course. The system automatically grades every assignment that features machine-graded questions, and students' results appear in the gradebook.

MasteringBiology[®] features activities that assist with vocabulary building, extend the text's emphasis on visual learning, demonstrate connections among key concepts, and provide coaching on difficult concepts. Additionally, adaptive Follow-Up Assignments within MasteringBiology provide coaching and practise that continually adapt to each student's needs, making efficient use of study time.

LearningCatalyticstm, available through MasteringBiology, is an interactive classroom solution and response system that leads to just-in-time teaching opportunities. Educators can create multiple-choice questions, or open-ended questions that require graphical, textual, or numerical answers, and students can use their smartphones, tablets, or laptops to respond.

Testbank A testbank offering over 2000 questions is availabl either in Word (Test Item File) or in a computerized format (Pearson TestGen). Pearson TestGen is a powerful program that enables instructors to view and edit existing questions, create new questions, and generate quizzes, tests, exams, or homework. With Pearson TestGen educators can also administer tests on a local area network, have tests graded electronically, and then have the results prepared in electronic or printed reports.

PowerPoint Slides Every chapter features a Microsoft PowerPoint[®] slide deck that highlights, illuminates, and builds on key concepts for your lecture or online delivery. Think pair-share questions appear after major topics to help with th integration of active learning opportunities. You can tailor each deck to your specifications

Image Libraries Image libraries of labelled and unlabelled art help with the creation of vibrant lecture presentations. Most figures, tables, charts, and photos from the text are provide in electronic format and are organized by chapter for convenience. These images can be imported easily into Microso PowerPoint^{*}.

Clicker Questions Clicker questions—multiple choice and true/false—give you in-the-moment opportunities to engage and to assess students' understanding during lecture.

CourseSmart for Instructors CourseSmart goes beyond traditional expectations—providing instant, online access to the textbooks and course materials. You can save time with a digital eTextbook that allows you to search for the most relevant content at the very moment you need it. Whether it's evaluating textbooks or creating lecture notes to help students with difficult concepts, CourseSmart can make life a little easier. S how when you visit www.coursesmart.com/instructors.

Student Supplements

MasteringBiology® Study Area The Study Area i MasteringBiology® offers a plethora of resources that allow st dents to assess their knowledge of the material and their progress.

eText MasteringBiology[®] features an interactive eText of *Campbell Biology: Concepts and Connections* that allows for

easy highlighting, annotating, and searching with a Google[®]-based search function.

Students can also access their text via a tablet by downloading the free Pearson eText app and using their MasteringBiology[®] login credentials.

Study on the Go

At the end of every chapter, students will find a QR code that provides access to Study on the Go, an unprecedented mobile integration between text and online content. Students can access text-specific resources, including quizzes and flashcards, by using their smartphones to scan the code.

Students can visit one of the sites below to download a free app to their smartphone. Once installed, the phone can scan the QR code and link to a website that leads to Pearson's Study on the Go and resources for *Campbell Biology: Concepts and Connections*.

ScanLife http://getscanlife.com NeoReader http://get.neoreader.com QuickMark www.quickmark.com.tw



Customizable Text Options

Pearson Custom Library (PCL) For enrollments of at least 25 students, you can create your own textbook by choosing the chapters that best suit your own course needs. To begin building your custom text, visit www.pearsoncustomlibrary .com. You may also work with a dedicated Pearson Custom editor to create your ideal text—publishing your own original content or mixing and matching Pearson content. Contact your local Pearson Representative to get started.

Acknowledgements

This Canadian Edition of *Campbell Biology: Concepts and Connections* is the result of the combined efforts of man talented and hardworking people. I wish to extend my heartfelt appreciation to all those who contributed, especially the authors of the U.S. Editions. The final version of this book was shap by input from the dedicated reviewers listed in the next column, who have shared their experiences and ideas to improve the book.

Keith Bruce (St. Clair College) Lisa Carter (Athabasca University) Michael Durrant (Champlain Regional College) Carol Evans (Algonquin College) Tracy Fawcett (SAIT Polytechnic) Gary Grothman (St. Mary's University College) Stephen B. Heard (University of New Brunswick) Tanya Jessup (Durham College) Zafar Khan (Centennial College) Wilfred Langmaid (University of New Brunswick) Jennifer Matecki (Algonquin College) Tammy McMullan (Simon Fraser University) Ivona Mladenovic (Simon Fraser University) Mario Moniz de Sa (Langara College) Alison Moran (Camosun College) E. Blythe Nilson (University of British Columbia, Okanagan) Gavin Park (Nipissing University) Nagina Parmar (Ryerson University) Lily Peters (Nicola Valley Institute of Technology) Naman Sharma (University of Ottawa) Michael Silvergieter (Fraser International College) Joanne Simala-Grant (University of Alberta) Julie Smit (University of Windsor) Sharla Stolhandske (Fraser International College) Jeff Stuart (Brock University) David Thomas (Fanshawe College) Tamara Western (McGill University) Catherine A. Young (Heritage College)

For many students, introductory biology is the only science course that they will take during their college or university years. Long after today's students have forgotten most o the specific content of their biology course, they will b left with general impressions and attitudes about scienc and scientists. We hope that this Canadian Edition of *Campbell Biology: Concepts and Connections* helps to make those impressions positive and supports instructors' goals for sharing the fun of biology. In our continuing efforts t improve the book and its supporting materials, we benefi tremendously from instructor feedback, not only in formal reviews but also via informal communication. Please let us know how we are doing and how we can improve the next edition of the book.

Kevin Scott, kevin.scott@ad.umanitoba.ca